
PLANNING AND COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT/TRANSPORTATION 106 East Morgan Street, Suite 207 

Brevard, NC  28712 
Jeff Adams, Director 828.884.3205 
Darby Terrell, Planner planning.transylvaniacounty.org 
Ashley Minery, Planner 

Transylvania County Transportation Advisory Board 
November 13, 2024 at 2:00 PM 
 Large DSS Conference Room or 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89139390392 

AGENDA 

CALL TO ORDER 

I. WELCOME
II. AGENDA MODIFICATIONS

III. CONSENT AGENDA
A. Minutes (August 14, 2024)
B. Transportation Updates from Staff

i. Transportation during the aftermath of Hurricane Helene
ii. Silver Squirrel Update

iii. Increasing Advertising via Radio Ads
IV. ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING

A. Election of Chair and Vice Chair
V. OLD BUSINESS

A. Q1 FY25 Transylvania County Transportation Operational Statistics
a. Quarter Breakdown Summary of Demand Response
b. Fixed Route Summary

B. Unified Grant Application for FY26 and ROAP Update
C. Fixed Route Rerouting Update

i. Schedule and Summary
ii. Survey Results

iii. Next Steps
D. Land of Sky – RPO

VI. NEW BUSINESS
A. TAB Meeting Date Discussion

i. Keep or Change current Meeting dates or times
VII. PUBLIC COMMENT (15-minute time limit. Speakers are limited to three minutes.)

VIII. BOARD MEMBERS’ COMMENTS

ADJOURNMENT 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89139390392


PLANNING AND 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 106 East Morgan Street, Suite 207 
   Brevard, NC  28712 
Jeff Adams, Director 828.884.3205  
Darby Terrell, Planner planning.transylvaniacounty.org 
Ashley Minery, Planner 
 

 
Transylvania County Transportation 

Advisory Board 
 August 14, 2024, at 2:00 PM 

 
MINUTES 

 
CALL TO ORDER 

I. WELCOME: Darby Terrell, staff, called the meeting to order at 2:06 PM. Greta Gosnell, 
Sabrina Griffin, Jeff Adams, on Zoom was Vicki Eastland, Abby Incze, Deb Haight, and 
Carla Hill were present. Absent was Shelly Webb, Sara Daughtry, Traci McCormick and 
Amy Marquez (excused). A quorum was present. Darby Terrell, Planner was present as 
well. 
 

II. AGENDA MODIFICATIONS:  Mr. Jeff Adams motioned to move the Organizational 
meeting to the next meeting, seconded by Ms. Greta Gosnell. The motion passed 
unanimously.  
 

III. CONSENT AGENDA 
A. Minutes (May 8, 2023) 
B. Transportation Updates 

i. Partnership with Transylvania Library on Field Trips 
ii. Fixed Route Survey 

C. Transportation Services Yearly Breakdown of Ridership 
i. Fixed Route Yearly Statistics (22-24) 

ii. Demand Response Yearly Statistics (21- July of ‘24) 
Mr. Adams motioned to approve the minutes and consent agenda as presented, 
seconded by Ms. Sabrina Griffin. The motion passed unanimously. 
 

IV. OLD BUSINESS: Presentation Slides 
A. Q4 FY24 Transylvania County Operational Statistics 

i. Quarter Breakdown Summary of Demand Response 
ii. Fixed Route Summary 

Ms. Terrell went over the organizational statistics for the previous quarter. With 
hope for an increase in marketing for the services, the department is hopeful that 
there will be an uptick in ridership. Also, with the Fixed Route changes it may lead 
to increases in ridership as well. Though Ms. Terrell informed there is a strange 
increase in mileage but not hours for all the Operational statistics this past fiscal 
year which is strange. Staff will try to do more digging into why this is happening. 
The members discussed the presented data.  

DRAFT



 
B. Rule on Minor’s Riding Discussion 

Ms. Terrell informed the board about the department’s decision to create a minor 
consent form for children riding between the ages of 12-15. The current rule is no 
one under the age of 16 can ride by themselves. This consent form is to help with 
potential riders for our demand and fixed route services who couldn’t ride by 
themselves currently. Each school year the department transports high school 
students who go to classes at Blue Ridge Community College, this should help 
with those who need rides but couldn’t in the past use our service. It was 
suggested by Ms. Griffin to add the consent form is good for one year. Ms. Vicki 
Eastland also suggested using a specific card for the minors who have signed the 
consent form and have that card have an expiration date on it to help keep up 
with the rules. The board discussed more on the minor consent form, and 
suggestions for the department to track those with the cards. 

 
C. Fixed Route Rerouting 

Ms. Terrell presented the schedule the department is working with to change the 
stops for the Fixed Route, the first step being the Fixed Route Survey. She 
explained the plan is to have the survey open for 3 weeks, and Mr. Adams added 
there will also be advertising for the survey also.  
 

D. Bylaw Update 
Ms. Terrell presented the updated bylaws for the Boards review and approval. 
The board members discussed and suggested changes to the language where 
there were places it referred to another county, as well as to capitalize the 
Transportation Advisory Board. After discussion, Ms. Griffin motioned to approve 
the bylaws with the suggested changes, seconded by Ms. Carla Hill. The motion 
passed unanimously. 
  

E. Land of Sky – RPO 
Ms. Eastland informed the board that the Transit Demand Manager program, 
which helps coordinate bike and walk to school days and helps transit 
coordination is working on a new project. This project is to create maps that show 
where transit stops or services are located near trailheads. She is planning on 
using the new shapefiles after Transylvania County updates their Fixed Route 
stops. 
 

V. NEW BUSINESS 
A. Unified Grant Application for FY26 

i. 5311 Administrative Application 
ii. Combined Capital Application 

iii. 5310 Operating Application 
 
Ms. Terrell informed the board of the ongoing process of the department in preparing to 
submit next fiscal year’s Unified Grant Application to the NCDOT IMD. She explained this 
yearly process that is done to fund the transit system in the County, the first step is to 
receive approval from TAB in the amounts the department is requesting. Ms. Terrell went 

DRAFT



over the three grants and each amount the department is requesting. Please see below 
the amounts, the first section is the 5311 Administrative grant, the second section is the 
Combined Capital grant, and the third section is the 5310 Operating grant: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ms. 
Terrell 

explained the jump from previous years Combined Capital funding ($435,000) is due to 
next year three (3) of the County vans are up to be replaced. She explained Van 36 (which 
is currently a backup), Van 38, and Van 39 are to be replaced. Though overall the other 
two stay exactly as they were, since it has not shown in previous years the need to 
request more from NCDOT for those grants. 
 

VI. BOARD MEMBERS’ COMMENTS:  
Carla Hill- She questioned if Jeff’s salary was included in the administration grant for 
NCDOT, and if it isn’t how can it be? 
The board discussed this, and it was mentioned the department should apply for the 
Mobility Manager Application. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

Ms. Greta Gosnell motioned to adjourn the meeting at 2:54 PM, seconded by Ms. Sabrina 

Griffin. The motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

_____________________________                                            ___________________________ 

Darby Terrell, Planner       Chair  

DRAFT



PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION  106 East Morgan Street  
& COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Suite 207 
  Brevard, NC  28712 
planning@transylvaniacounty.org 828-884-3205 
  

 

 

Transportation Advisory Board 
Staff Report: Quarter 1 FY25 Operational Statistics/Revenue Report  
 

Agenda Date: November 13, 2024   Prepared By: Darby Terrell 

Agenda Item: V-A 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
ATTACHMENTS 

No attachments, Infographics to be presented in PowerPoint 

 

Background 
Transylvania County Transportation Advisory Board receives each meeting a quarterly report on the 
operation and revenue data from the previous month. Each time they are given last year’s same report 
to show the yearly difference. For Quarter 1 the months that will be reviewed will be July 2024 till 
September 2024. Comparing the fiscal year 2024 Quarter 1 with last fiscal year 2025 Quarter 1, for the 
Demand Response with our Vans overall was higher for all categories. For our Cab Demand Response, 
there was a decrease in all categories. For our Fixed Route there was a decrease in all categories from 
last year. 

 

Operational Statistics 

 

Q1- FY25 July August September QRT Total 
DR 22 Op Days 22 Op Days 18 Op Days 62 Op Days 

Hours 510 532 378 1,420 

Miles 9,104 9,472 6,945 25,521 

Passenger 
Trips 

1,848 1,898 1,338 5,084 

DR Cab     

Hours 88 76 56 221 

 



Transylvania County Transportation Advisory Board | Q1 FY24 Operational Statistics| 2 
 

Miles 1,741 1,263 1,149 4,153 

Passenger 
Trips 

220 228 164 612 

Fixed 
Route 

    

Hours 229 230 167 626 

Miles 3,890 3,909 2,838 10,637 

Passenger 
Trips 

107 139 150 396 

 

Q1- FY24 July August September QRT Total 
DR 20 Op Days 22 Op Days 20 Op Days 62 Op Days 

Hours 413 518 430 1,361 

Miles 7,406 9,159 7,717 24,282 

Passenger 
Trips 

1,531 1,797 1,502 4,830 

DR Cab     

Hours 77 106 80 263 

Miles 1,688 2,515 1,787 5,990 

Passenger 
Trips 

213 299 243 755 

Fixed 
Route 

    

Hours 200 243 198 641 

Miles 3,391 4,163 3,360 10,914 

Passenger 
Trips 

189 228 123 540 

 

Recommendation 
Item is for review and discussion only, no action required.  







PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION  106 East Morgan Street  
& COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Suite 207 
  Brevard, NC  28712 
planning@transylvaniacounty.org 828-884-3205 
  

 

 

Transportation Advisory Board 
Staff Report: FY26 UGA and ROAP Update 
 

Agenda Date: August 14, 2024   Prepared By: Darby Terrell 

Agenda Item: V-B 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
ATTACHMENTS 

A-1 ROAP Disbursement for FY2025 Email 

A-2 ROAP Funding Breakdown for Transylvania County FY26 

 

Background 
The Transportation Advisory Board will be updated on the progress of the Unified Grant Application, and 
an update on the progress of the FY26 ROAP application as well as what the transportation department 
will receive for this years ROAP funds. Due to Hurricane Helene all UGA and ROAP deadlines have been 
pushed back. Staff with Land of Sky RPO Transit Grant Administrator, Abby Incze, are putting together 
the finishing touches to the applications for both UGA and ROAP for the next fiscal year (FY26). The 
department is requesting all funds available to the county in ROAP funds next year which is $156,498. 
This fiscal year we received the disbursement letter of our ROAP funds total which is $131,021. For the 
breakdown of the funding please see attachments 1 and 2. 

 

Recommendation: The agenda item is only an informational one, and no decision by the 
board is needed. 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Transylvania County Transportation Advisory Board| Transit Yearly Breakdown of Ridership| 2 
 

A1 

 
 
 
 
 



Transylvania County Transportation Advisory Board| Transit Yearly Breakdown of Ridership| 3 
 

A-2 
 
 















PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION  106 East Morgan Street  
& COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Suite 207 
  Brevard, NC  28712 
planning@transylvaniacounty.org 828-884-3205 
  

 

 

Transportation Advisory Board 
Staff Report: Fixed-Route Rerouting  
 

Agenda Date: November 13, 2024   Prepared By: Darby Terrell 

Agenda Item: V-C 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
ATTACHMENTS 

“A” Exhibits – Agenda Item Materials 

A-1  Schedule of Fixed Route Rerouting; 

 

Background 
Transylvania County Transportation currently operates Fixed-Route and Demand Response services 
throughout the service area. At the last Transportation Advisory Board meeting, the board discussed 
rerouting the Fixed-Route with staff. During the discussion, staff presented the schedule to the board 
and discussed the next steps which included sending out a survey to riders and the public to answer 
questions involving the Fixed-Route.  

 

Quick breakdown of the Survey 

 



Transylvania Transportation Advisory Board | Fixed-Route Re-Routing | 2 
 

 
 

 
When asked the frequency of their use of the service, it seems the majority use it on a regular basis, 
such as Weekly and Daily. 

 



Transylvania Transportation Advisory Board | Fixed-Route Re-Routing | 3 
 

 
For those who did not use the service they stated the majority reason being they had their own 
transportation. Though the second top answer was due to them not living near a stop to allow better 
access for them to use the Fixed Route. 

 

 
When asked where they would most like to be taken if they were to use the service, the top three 
answers stated they would like it to be near the Grocery Stores, Shopping, Pharmacy, or Banks. 

 



Transylvania Transportation Advisory Board | Fixed-Route Re-Routing | 4 
 

 
For the top three new stop additions the respondents answered Aldi as 1, Food Matters/Brevard Music 
Center tied for 2, and Silvermont Park/Pisgah Forest Visitors Center tied for 3. 

 

Below are the answers for other stop locations that were not listed in the previous question. (13 
Responses) 

Library 

Doctor's office or library 

Headwaters Outfitters, Transylvania Airport 

Go Grocery 

Post office, Laurel Village 

Penrose, DuPont Forest 

Downtown, Brevard Health and Racquet Club 

Dollar General, Rosman Hwy 

Cedar Mountain 

Brevard High 

Deer Lake Village 

Marathon Gas Station on Hwy 64 towards Rosman 

Pardee Medical 

 



Transylvania Transportation Advisory Board | Fixed-Route Re-Routing | 5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The top three answers were having a stop within 10 minutes walking distance to where they live (#1 
answer), having transit shelters or benches at the stops (#2 answer), and to feel safe when using the 
service, or to have easier access to the bus schedule (tied for #3 answer).  

 

 

The next question was an open-ended question about what improvements they would suggest (see 
below, 13 responses).  

Later hours to Walmart in afternoon 

I think it is a great resource in our community and staff are doing great! 

I don't use Fixed Route 

We should be able to get off and back on. 

I don't see any improvements needed 

Running after 5pm in Brevard. For the working people. 

Please evaluate a route line to/from Cedar Mountain with stops along Greenville Hwy (Connestee, 
Sherwood Forest, CM Community Center) 

Work Weekend 

More Trips to Rosman 

1. Stops near where I need to go; 2. Easier ability to handle packages; 3. Prefer to only be close to 
other masked people because of ongoing risk of COVID 

Aimee and Greta are great/fantastic too! I don’t know what I would do without you! 

Larger bus stop signs so they’re more visible 

Weekends/Evening service 



Transylvania Transportation Advisory Board | Fixed-Route Re-Routing | 6 
 

 

 
 

The respondents answered how they currently felt about the service, the answers were Excellent with 
25.9%, 18.5% rated it Fair. The majority who answered stated they didn’t know enough about the 
current system to rate it at 51.9%.  

 

 

The next question asked how they would rate their experience with our drivers, all respondents (13 
responses) answered Excellent.  

 

 

 

 
 



Transylvania Transportation Advisory Board | Fixed-Route Re-Routing | 7 
 

We then asked if they would prefer us to Expand Operating hours M-F to 7:00am-7:00pm, or expand 
either to Saturdays or Sundays, from 9:00am to 5:00pm. The results stated most people preferred to 
Expand to Saturday service at 60.9% of the 23 respondents or expanding the current hours. 

 

Staff Summary 
Staff made sure the surveys were available physically and online using a QR code. Staff posted a drop off 
box at the library. We also made sure to inform all drivers of the survey and to tell their riders of it. The 
Fixed Route van had physical copies and the QR code for them to use. From reviewing the results and 
having the Survey open for close to three months, the number of responses is underwhelming but also 
expected. The main issue staff are trying to address is increasing ridership of the Fixed Route. It is 
encouraging so many respondents know about the Fixed Route even though they do not use it. Our top 
priority is to help TAB come up with better options for improvements for the Fixed Route. This survey 
allows us to gauge a small portion but enough of a mix of riders and non-riders on what improvements 
the public would suggest. Staff believe increasing the knowledge of the service will help with ridership, 
but also improving the current service to focus on needed destinations for the people who currently use 
it. This they hope would encourage current non-riders to use the service. Some of the responses are 
easily fixable such as using bigger Signs at the stops and having easier access to the bus schedule. 
Though the responses didn’t focus much on making the waiting times for each stop smaller, staff believe 
it would be one of the most helpful improvements for increasing the ridership.  

 

Recommendation 
It is recommended to review the survey results and discuss the data provided. Staff believe the number 
of responses is adequate for a service that normally serves less than 10 people a day. We do not believe 
further access to the survey for the public will encourage more responses from riders of the service. We 
ask the board to help discuss the next steps and help instruct staff on how to go about making 
improvements. Please refer also to the schedule that was created months ago to help during the 
discussion. 
 



Month # Task Amount of Time
Month 1 Survey For Fixed Route Riders 3 Weeks

Verbal Permissions from New Stop locatio3 Weeks
Van Driver Test Route 3 Weeks

Month 2 Compile Data from Survey 1 Week
Advertise Public Hearing @ BOC meeting2-3 Weeks
Public Hearing @ BOC meeting 1 meeting*
Decision from BOC 1-2 meetings
Permissions from New Stop locations 2-3 Weeks
Brevard College
Mary C Jenkins Comm Center
The Lumberyard
The Hub

Month 3 New Branding? Or signs include QR code2 Weeks*
Get Permanent Signs for Stops 2-4 Weeks
Placement of Signs at Stops 4 Weeks
Advertising New Route/ Roll Out 5 weeks

darby.terrell
Stamp


	Nov 2024 DRAFT TAB Agenda.pdf
	PLANNING AND COMMUNITY
	Transylvania County Transportation Advisory Board
	November 13, 2024 at 2:00 PM
	I. WELCOME
	II. AGENDA MODIFICATIONS
	III. CONSENT AGENDA
	A. Minutes (August 14, 2024)
	B. Transportation Updates from Staff
	i. Transportation during the aftermath of Hurricane Helene
	ii. Silver Squirrel Update
	iii. Increasing Advertising via Radio Ads
	IV. ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING
	A. Election of Chair and Vice Chair
	V. OLD BUSINESS
	A. Q1 FY25 Transylvania County Transportation Operational Statistics
	a. Quarter Breakdown Summary of Demand Response
	b. Fixed Route Summary
	B. Unified Grant Application for FY26 and ROAP Update
	C. Fixed Route Rerouting Update
	i. Schedule and Summary
	ii. Survey Results
	iii. Next Steps
	D. Land of Sky – RPO
	VI. NEW BUSINESS
	A. TAB Meeting Date Discussion
	i. Keep or Change current Meeting dates or times
	VII. PUBLIC COMMENT (15-minute time limit. Speakers are limited to three minutes.)
	VIII. BOARD MEMBERS’ COMMENTS
	ADJOURNMENT


	Staff Report on UGA FY26 - Copy.pdf
	ROAP A-2.pdf
	TABSRFixedRouteReRouting.pdf
	FixedRouteSchedule.pdf
	Sheet1

	TAB_DRAFT_Aug14 Minutes.pdf
	PLANNING AND
	COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 106 East Morgan Street, Suite 207
	Brevard, NC  28712
	Jeff Adams, Director 828.884.3205
	Darby Terrell, Planner planning.transylvaniacounty.org
	Ashley Minery, Planner
	Transylvania County Transportation Advisory Board
	August 14, 2024, at 2:00 PM
	I. WELCOME: Darby Terrell, staff, called the meeting to order at 2:06 PM. Greta Gosnell, Sabrina Griffin, Jeff Adams, on Zoom was Vicki Eastland, Abby Incze, Deb Haight, and Carla Hill were present. Absent was Shelly Webb, Sara Daughtry, Traci McCormi...
	II. AGENDA MODIFICATIONS:  Mr. Jeff Adams motioned to move the Organizational meeting to the next meeting, seconded by Ms. Greta Gosnell. The motion passed unanimously.
	III. CONSENT AGENDA
	A. Minutes (May 8, 2023)
	B. Transportation Updates
	i. Partnership with Transylvania Library on Field Trips
	ii. Fixed Route Survey
	C. Transportation Services Yearly Breakdown of Ridership
	i. Fixed Route Yearly Statistics (22-24)
	ii. Demand Response Yearly Statistics (21- July of ‘24)
	Mr. Adams motioned to approve the minutes and consent agenda as presented, seconded by Ms. Sabrina Griffin. The motion passed unanimously.
	IV. OLD BUSINESS: Presentation Slides
	A. Q4 FY24 Transylvania County Operational Statistics
	i. Quarter Breakdown Summary of Demand Response
	ii. Fixed Route Summary
	Ms. Terrell went over the organizational statistics for the previous quarter. With hope for an increase in marketing for the services, the department is hopeful that there will be an uptick in ridership. Also, with the Fixed Route changes it may lead ...
	B. Rule on Minor’s Riding Discussion
	Ms. Terrell informed the board about the department’s decision to create a minor consent form for children riding between the ages of 12-15. The current rule is no one under the age of 16 can ride by themselves. This consent form is to help with poten...
	C. Fixed Route Rerouting
	Ms. Terrell presented the schedule the department is working with to change the stops for the Fixed Route, the first step being the Fixed Route Survey. She explained the plan is to have the survey open for 3 weeks, and Mr. Adams added there will also ...
	D. Bylaw Update
	Ms. Terrell presented the updated bylaws for the Boards review and approval. The board members discussed and suggested changes to the language where there were places it referred to another county, as well as to capitalize the Transportation Advisory ...
	E. Land of Sky – RPO
	Ms. Eastland informed the board that the Transit Demand Manager program, which helps coordinate bike and walk to school days and helps transit coordination is working on a new project. This project is to create maps that show where transit stops or se...
	V. NEW BUSINESS
	A. Unified Grant Application for FY26
	i. 5311 Administrative Application
	ii. Combined Capital Application
	iii. 5310 Operating Application
	Ms. Terrell informed the board of the ongoing process of the department in preparing to submit next fiscal year’s Unified Grant Application to the NCDOT IMD. She explained this yearly process that is done to fund the transit system in the County, the ...
	Ms. Terrell explained the jump from previous years Combined Capital funding ($435,000) is due to next year three (3) of the County vans are up to be replaced. She explained Van 36 (which is currently a backup), Van 38, and Van 39 are to be replaced. T...
	VI. BOARD MEMBERS’ COMMENTS:
	Carla Hill- She questioned if Jeff’s salary was included in the administration grant for NCDOT, and if it isn’t how can it be?
	The board discussed this, and it was mentioned the department should apply for the Mobility Manager Application.
	ADJOURNMENT
	Ms. Greta Gosnell motioned to adjourn the meeting at 2:54 PM, seconded by Ms. Sabrina Griffin. The motion passed unanimously.
	_____________________________                                            ___________________________
	Darby Terrell, Planner       Chair





